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NOTICE TO PROSPECTIVE PROPOSERS 
 
This bulletin is issued to give updates and clarify the issues raised by prospective proposers 
through the IBAC Secretariat via electronic mail1. This shall form an integral part of the RFP No. 
2017-01-MAS. 
 
It is conclusively presumed that in the preparation of its Proposal, the Proposer has taken into 

account the information and procedures set forth in the RFP No. 2017-01-MAS and each 

Supplemental Bulletin. 

 Questions Answers 

2.1  Attachment 1: Guidelines for the Multi-Asset 
Mandate 
Section F on Liquidity: In terms of liquidity for 
the portfolio, can I check what is the liquidity 
GSIS would be comfortable with.   
I refer to the allocation to alternative 
investments in physical real estate and hedge 
funds. For these asset classes, we may not have 
daily liquidity. Would monthly or quarterly 
liquidity be acceptable? 

Section F (Liquidity Requirement) serves 
only as a guide in cases of withdrawal or 
termination of the Mandate. 
 
GSIS has no specific liquidity requirement. 
Liquidity depends on the proposed asset 
allocation which will be part of the Proposed 
Investment Strategy as indicated in Section 
G of Attachment 4. The discussion of the 
liquidity of the proposed portfolio should 
also be part of this. 
 

2.2  Attachment 1: Guidelines for the Multi-Asset 
Mandate 
Section G on Permissible Asset Classes:  When 
you state that investments should be in 
investment grade markets only, does this apply 
only to the international fixed income exposure 
or it would apply to the international equities 
exposure as well as the alternatives?   

Refer to Supplemental Bulletin No. 1.3 

                                                           
1 Questions in this Bulletin were quoted verbatim and answered as understood. 
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For instance, is the equity exposure limited to 
investments in countries that are rated 
investment grade? Some of the emerging 
markets may not be rated investment grade. 
 

2.3  Attachment 1: Guidelines for the Multi-Asset 
Mandate 
There is no mention of the use of derivatives for 
the mandate.  Some of the hedge funds may 
use derivatives in the management of the 
strategy for efficient implementation of their 
views and strategy.  Would this be permissible? 
 

Yes. The use of derivatives is permissible. 
But limits of its use should be discussed as 
part of the Proposed Investment Strategy 
under Section G of Attachment 4. 

2.4  Attachment 2: Minimum Qualifications 
Certification  
Is there a minimum length of track record 
required for the strategy? 
 

Yes. Refer to Supplemental Bulletin No. 1.7 

2.5  Our Multi-Asset range is currently 
denominated in GBP. Would you be willing to 
accept performance numbers in GBP terms for 
Attachment 10? We are currently working on 
translating our GBP returns to USD but we 
wished to check with you. 

Refer to Supplemental Bulletin No. 1.6 

2.6  We understand that investments in non-
investment grade markets and Philippine 
securities are prohibited leading to a 
customized mandate. Currently our various 
strategies use both Global Emerging Markets as 
well as Global High Yield. These are 
implemented via internally managed funds, 
index futures and ETFs. Can we confirm this is a 
strict prohibition or if there is any form of 
flexibility?  
 

Refer to Supplemental Bulletin No. 1.9 

2.7  Hard requirement of minimum $20 Bln of 
‘Multi-Asset AuM’. 
The strategy we would be proposing which is 
Insight Broad Opportunities Fund, has an AuM 
of $8.5 Bln as of the end of September 2017.  
We would include all other Multi-Asset 
Absolute Return Strategies managed by other 
investment teams at Insight as well, and on an 
overall multi asset AUM level – this would be 

The minimum requirement of US$20 billion 
refers to the total AUM of all discretionary 
fee-paying multi-asset mandates of the 
proposing firm. GIPS compliance of the firm 
is a minimum qualification requirement. 
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higher than USD 20bn as at Sept 2017. 
Please confirm if this meets GSIS’s minimum 
requirement condition for qualification. 
 

2.8  Hard requirement of ‘no investments in high 
yield’.  
Please can we clarify if there is any possibility 
to allow a limited allocation to High Yield.  
Even if the limit is to 10% (or even 5%). 
 

Allocation to investments in high yield is not 
allowed. 

2.9  List of Allowable Investments 
Please can we clarify that Derivatives (such as 
Futures and Options), ETFs and Insight-
managed comingled funds are allowed 
investments for this portfolio.  
If there are any limits on these asset classes & 
investment vehicles, please can we clarify what 
the limits are? 
 

All financial instruments traded in the 
secondary market are permissible subject to 
the other provisions of the RFP. Limits on the 
use of these instruments should be part of 
the Proposed Investment Strategy under 
Section G of Attachment 4. 

2.10  Hard requirement of ‘no investments in high 
yield’.  
Pls can we clarify if the ‘no investments in high 
yield’ also excludes investments in ETFs or 
comingled funds which might have a small 
residual exposure to high yield.  
If this is allowed, please can we clarify what the 
maximum residual HY limit that is allowed? 
 

Investment in high yield is not allowed. 

2.11  Hard requirement of ‘no investments in high 
yield’.  
Pls can we confirm the methodology for 
classifying a security as ‘high yield’.  
Does GSIS use highest rating, middle rating or 
lowest rating of the top 3 rating agencies? 
 

Refer to Supplemental Bulletin No. 1.3 

2.12  Hard requirement covering investment in 
prohibited activities 
Currently our strategy invests in equities via 
index equity futures (such as the S&P500, 
Eurostoxx50, FTSE 100, etc…).  
Please can we confirm that investments in 
passive index-level investments are not subject 
to the Point 17.3 ‘Investment in prohibited 
activities’ requirement. 
 

Passive index-level investments are still 
subject to Section H of Attachment 1, Item 
17.3 
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2.13  Use of leverage 
The use of leverage is mentioned in the 
document and seems to be allowed. However, 
there is no specific leverage limit specified.  
Pls can we confirm that leverage is allowed?  
If there is an upper limit on the use of leverage 
please can we confirm what this is and the 
methodology for calculation? 
 

Yes. Use of leverage is allowed. 
 
The limits and methodology for calculation 
shall form part of the proposal subject to 
approval of the GSIS prior to 
implementation. 

2.14  Management Fee proposal (Point 14.2b in the 
document) 
Point 14.2b in the tender document states that, 
‘the proposed management fee shall include all 
costs for providing investment services’.  
Please can we confirm our understanding that 
this does not include any costs that may be 
charged by the Client’s Custodian (i.e. that this 
is limited to the fees charged by the investment 
manager)? 
 

Yes. The management fee does not include 
any costs that may be charged by the GSIS' 
Custodian. 

2.15  Client References 
In order to limit disruption to our existing 
clients, we would normally provide client 
references at a later stage of the process.  
Please can we confirm that GSIS is comfortable 
with this approach. 
 

Refer to Supplemental Bulletin No. 1.18 

2.16  How much of your assets does the $800m 
investment represent? 
 

Refer to the financial statements published 
in the GSIS website: www.gsis.gov.ph 

2.17  As we understand your program is a defined 
benefit pension plan, could you share with us 
how your liabilities look (ie. PV, shape and 
maturity)? 
 

Refer to the financial statements published 
in the GSIS website: www.gsis.gov.ph 

2.18  Can you share with us your current growth 
asset breakdown please? 

Refer to the financial statements published 
in the GSIS website: www.gsis.gov.ph 

2.19  Can we confirm if the ‘8% average three-year 
return (after fees)’ stated refers to 8% 
annualized net returns? 

Yes. 
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2.20  Based on your investment guideline 9.1., can 
we confirm that your expectations are for us to 
derive our proposed solution using Efficient 
Frontier process? 

The Manager may use any optimization 
model which may include Markowitz Model. 
Any suggested optimization model to be 
used should be included and discussed in the 
Proposed Investment Strategy under 
Section G of Attachment 4. 
 

2.21  Do you have an internal actuarial staff or 
consultants to advise on the asset liability and 
strategic Asset Allocation decisions? 

Yes. 

2.22  We note the requirement for training. Our firm 
has many sovereign and pension clients and are 
experienced and delighted to offer dedicated 
training and knowledge transfer for our clients. 
However, our compliance department has 
been increasingly against the firm paying 
clients in cash for airfare and accommodation. 
The anti-bribery regulatory directive in the UK 
and US is specifically tight when it comes to 
dealing with government-related entities. As 
such, we would like to explore if there are ways 
we can satisfy GSIS requirements and yet not 
contravene any of the regulations. Would GSIS 
consider a fee discount in our proposal that 
factors in the air fare and accommodation 
related cost? Separately, can we quantify the 
likely cost of the airfare and accommodation 
for our Compliance to consider? 

GSIS agrees that all parties should strictly 
comply with laws on anti-graft and corrupt 
practices. Relative thereto, all expenses that 
may be incurred (airfare travel and 
accommodation) should be reasonable and 
necessary. 

2.23  We believe the return objective of 8% is not a 
Low hurdle to achieve. It would be difficult to 
achieve with an unlevered diversified multi 
asset portfolio, unless there is high 
concentration on Equities but there will be lack 
of diversification. As such, we believe the usage 
of some leverage based on different market 
conditions would generate a more diversified 
approach in seeking the 8% Return. We would 
propose a leverage of 150%-175% notional 
exposure, depending on market conditions. 
Would this be something acceptable to GSIS? If 
not, our team will need to re-design a proposal 
such that we dial down the leverage 
accordingly to their risk tolerance. However, 
without leverage, the probability of meeting 

Refer to Supplemental Bulletin No. 2.13 
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the 8% Return will be reduced. As such, we 
would ideally want to have as much flexibility 
on leverage to maximize our ability to deliver 
the target net return of 8%. 
 

2.24  GSIS asked for 10 year track record in the 
tender document, does it mean that if any 
strategy has less than 10 years of track record, 
it does not qualify?  

The GSIS requires at least one (1) multi asset 
composite with at least 3 years of track 
record.  

2.25  The requirement to have USD20b by GSIS, does 
it apply to the specific strategy or the entire 
team that manages MA strategies? 

The minimum requirement of US$20 billion 
refers to the total AUM of all discretionary 
fee-paying multi-asset mandates of the 
proposer. 

2.26  Can we confirm if 12% is ex-ante or ex-post 
standard deviation? If it is ex post, we will only 
know it after the fact, do we rectify after the 
fact? 

Annualized historical should be based on 
actual historical figures (ex-post).  

2.27  One question I had was whether, GSIS would be 
open to a fund of funds solution?  Basically, a 
separate account mandate, but invested in 
individual funds or ETFs.  This would add an 
advantage of diversification and fee discount.   
XXXX has both the capabilities of fund of funds 
and direct investments, but we were 
wondering if GSIS was restricting this search to 
one type. 
 

Fund of funds is generally considered as an 
alternative investment. GSIS limits 
allocation to alternative investments to a 
maximum of 10%. 

2.28  What is the benchmark? The benchmark should be part of the 
Proposed Investment Strategy under 
Section G of Attachment 4. 

2.29  What is the intended format? SMA or 
investment into a vehicle? 

Separately Managed Account (SMA) 

2.30  What is the definition of alternative 
investments? Can GSIS provide an exhaustive 
list what is considered to be alternative 
investments? 

GSIS considers real estate, hedge funds, and 
commodities as alternative investments. But 
if the proposer intends to consider other 
alternative investments, these should be 
included in the Proposed Investment 
Strategy under Section G of Attachment 4. 
 

2.31  Any other restrictions on asset class weights? No. 
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2.32  Guideline D9.2 mentioned that the use of 
leverage and shorting “shall be approved by the 
GSIS prior to implementation of the program”. 
Can you specify whether leverage and shorting 
are allowed? If so, can you specify what the 
limits are? This will help us better select the 
most suitable solution to put forward for this 
RFP. 
 

Yes. Use of leverage and shorting is allowed. 
 
The limits shall form part of the proposal 
subject to approval of the GSIS prior to 
implementation. 

2.33  With reference to attachment 1 “Guidelines for 
the Multi-Asset mandate” of the RFP, can we 
check if the use of derivatives are permitted?  

Yes. 

2.34  We do not gear the portfolio i.e. we are not 
borrowing money to increase the exposure of 
the portfolio but may we know if leverage is 
permitted? 

Yes. 

 

The prospective proposers are enjoined to visit the GSIS Website (www.gsis.gov.ph) on a regular 

basis for updates or Supplemental Bulletins. 

 

For guidance and information of all concerned. 

 

 

 

(Sgd) SEVERINA L. RESURRECCION 
Vice Chairperson 
Investment Bids and Awards Committee 


